TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The first **769** pages of the record on appeal herein consist of copies of documents from the circuit court file and transcripts of various hearings that were held in this cause. References to this portion of the record will be designated by "R," followed by the appropriate page number(s). The remainder of the record, some **3,052** pages, is comprised of the transcript of Appellant's jury trial--guilt and penalty phases. References to this portion of the record will be designated by "T," followed by the appropriate page number(s). References to the appendix to this brief will be designated by "A," followed by the appropriate page number(s). In addition to the above, there is a manila "evidence" envelope containing lists of exhibits that were admitted at the suppression hearing held in this cause and at Appellant's trial, as well as copies of some of the exhibits that were admitted. Items in said envelope have not been paginated. References to specific exhibits will be designated by the exhibit number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 7, **1994**, a Polk County grand jury returned a four-count indictment against Appellant, Eddie **Wayne** Davis. (R 3-5) The first count charged that between March 3 and **4, 1994**, Appellant committed first degree premeditated murder of Kimberly Waters by strangling and/or suffocating her. (R 3) Count Two charged Appellant with burglary of the residence of Beverly Schultz, during which he made an assault or battery upon Kimberly Waters. (R 3-4) Count Three alleged kidnapping of Kimberly Waters. (R 3) **The** final

count charged that Appellant committed a sexual battery upon Kimberly Waters, who was less than 12 years of age. (R 4-5)

Among the pretrial motions Appellant filed, through counsel, were two motions to suppress Statements and admissions he made to personnel from the Polk County Sheriff's Department. (R 6-8, 290-291) The State filed a written response to the first motion (R 11-12), which dealt with statements Appellant made on March 18, 1994, and a hearing on the motion was held before the Honorable Daniel True Andrews on January 6, 1995. (R 14-150) Judge Andrews heard the second motion to suppress, which dealt with statements Appellant made on May 26, 1994, on April 21, 1995. (R 418-470) Both motions were denied. (R 478-479)¹

This cause proceeded to a jury trial with Judge Andrews presiding on May 22-26, 30-31 and June 1 and June 6-9, 1995. (T1-3,052) On June 1, 1995, Appellant's jury found him guilty of all four offenses charged in the indictment. (R 529-530, T 2157-2158) At the conclusion of the subsequent penalty phase, after receiving additional evidence from both the State and the defense, the jury recommended that Appellant be sentenced to die in the electric chair. (R 590, T 3046)

Sentencing was held on June 30, 1995. (R 694-727) Judge Andrews sentenced Appellant to death for the murder, finding the

¹ Undersigned counsel has only been able to locate in the record on appeal a written order denying the second motion to suppress. (R 478-479) However, Judge Andrews did sign a written **order** denying the first motion to suppress on February 6, 1995, and a copy thereof has been appended to this brief. (A 1-7) [The order is erroneously dated February 6, 1994. The date should be February 6, 1995.]

following aggravating circumstances to apply (R 700-706, 740-744):

(1) the capital felony was committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment; (2) the capital felony was committed while Appellant **was** engaged in the commission of, or flight after committing, the crimes of either burglary and/or kidnapping and/or sexual battery; (3) the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; and (4) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. The court found the statutory mitigating circumstance of extreme mental or emotional disturbance to apply (R 706-710, 744-747), **but** rejected the statutory mitigator of impaired capacity. (R 710-713, 747-749) The court also found several nonstatutory mitigating circumstances applicable, but rejected others proposed by the defense. (R 713-723, 749-756) On Count **Two**, burglary with assault or battery, and Count Three, kidnapping, the court sentenced Appellant to **19** years in prison on each count. (R 724-725, 728, 733, 734, 757) On Count Four, sexual battery on a child under 12 years of age, the court sentenced Appellant to life in prison with a minimum mandatory of **25** years without parole. (R 724, 728, 735-736, 757) The court **also** found Appellant to be "a sexual predator under Chapter 775.21, Florida Statutes." (R 725, 739, 757)

On July 14, 1995, Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court. (R 762)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Suppression Hearing of January 6, 1995

Five witnesses testified at the suppression hearing held before Judge Andrews on January 6, 1995. (R 14-150)

Martha McWaters was a homicide detective with the Polk County Sheriff's Office in March of 1994. (R 18-19) She became involved in the investigation into the death of Kimberly Waters, and was the "case agent" or "team leader" as of March 18. (R 19, 46) **Prior** to March 18, 1994, Appellant was twice questioned at the police station and thereafter allowed to leave. (R 20) On March 18, however, law enforcement personnel had obtained DNA evidence which led them to believe that Appellant was the primary suspect, and had used this information to obtain an arrest warrant for him. (R 21) Detectives Smith and McWaters went to Appellant's house around 5:00 and asked him to come to the station again, because they needed "to go over some stuff again." (R 21, 45) They implied that Appellant would be able to go home when they were finished with him. (R 37) When they brought Appellant to the station, they "[w]anted to, and...did, create in his mind that he was not under arrest, it was a noncustodial interview." (R 56, 66)

At the substation, Appellant said that he was not involved in the homicide. (R 22-23, 53-54) McWaters then told Appellant about the DNA evidence they had, and, when Appellant indicated that he thought she might be making this up, she allowed Appellant to read the FDLE report. (R 23-24, 54) Appellant was then placed under arrest. (R 24) He **said** they had better keep looking, they had the

wrong guy. (R 24, 54) He then said, "'Can I call my mom to get me a lawyer, and can I smoke a cigarette, they won't let me smoke in the jail.'" (R 24, 54) At that point, McWaters discontinued the interview, because she was "just being careful not to violate anything, and once he made reference to lawyer at all [they] decided to discontinue the interview." (R 24) Appellant expressed concern about obtaining some protection when he went to the jail; he wanted to be put into isolation, (R 42, 68-69) McWaters handcuffed Appellant and placed him in a holding cell. (R 25) He was crying. (R 40)

About 10-15 minutes later, or less, Detective Primeau came into the "Barney Miller" room where McWaters was sitting and said, "Wayne's confessing to the major." (R 25-26, 40)

Major Grady Judd, commander of the west region of the Polk County Sheriff's Office, had come into contact with Appellant prior to March 18 when Appellant consented to a search of his residence. (R 78) Appellant was "very cooperative and very friendly..." (R 79)

On March 18, Judd went to see Appellant after he was **placed** in the holding cell. (R 80-81) Appellant made eye contact and Judd said, "Wayne, I'm disappointed **in** you." (R 81-82, 113) Appellant then said something Judd could not understand. (R 82) Judd opened **the** door and said something to the effect of, "I didn't understand what you said," or "Would you repeat that." (R 82) Appellant said, "I told you last week you need to look at Beverly," referring to Kimberly's mother. (R 82, 113-114) Lieutenant Schreiber had

informed Judd of Appellant's exercise of his right to counsel, and so Judd said, "**Eddie**, it's my understanding that, you know, you've requested an attorney or you've requested your mother to get you an attorney, and I can't discuss this with you because you want an attorney. The only way that I can talk to you is if you reinitiate conversation. You know, I can't talk to you anymore." (R **82**, 104, 114) Appellant then said that he wanted to talk to Judd and Schreiber. (R 82-83) He was "real emotional and on the verge of tears." (R **83**) Judd asked for Lieutenant Schreiber, undid Appellant's handcuffs, and offered him a cigarette (eventhough the building was a "no smoking" building), which Appellant accepted. (R 83, 93, **114-115**) Appellant started crying and said, "I can't afford an attorney anyway." (R **83**, 115) Judd told Appellant that he did not have ta be able to afford an attorney; the State would provide one for him. (R **83**, 115) By that time, Lieutenant Schreiber was coming in. (R **83**) Appellant was saying words to the effect of, "'I'm hung, I'm hung, I did it. You got **DNA**, sometimes **it's** wrong, but you got me, I did it." (R **83**, 105) Appellant went on to say, with Judd and Schreiber questioning him, that he kidnapped and sexually battered and murdered Kimberly Waters. (R **84-85, 94, 106, 117**) It was obvious to Judd that Appellant was distraught and upset. (R **87**) After talking to Appellant for 15 or

20 minutes,² Judd asked him if he would be willing to talk to detectives about the matter, and he said he would. (R 86, 96)

About 10 minutes later, according to McWaters, Detectives Smith and McWaters conducted a taped interview with Appellant. (R 27) [Smith estimated that 15 to 30 minutes elapsed from the time Appellant and Major Judd finished talking to the time the tape was started. (R 70)] Detective Smith talked to Appellant about his previous statement that he wanted his mother to obtain a lawyer; Appellant did not indicate that he did not want to talk to the detectives, or that he wanted to try to get a lawyer or talk to his mother. (R 27-28, 64) During the taped interview, Appellant was "still obviously distraught," but "the initial **shock** was over," and he "wasn't sobbing." (R 28) Neither Detective McWaters **nor** Detective Smith read Appellant his Miranda rights until they began taking his taped statement, at which time Smith "went over Miranda with him on the tape." (R 27-28, 55, 60, 64)

On May 26, 1995, Lieutenant Schreiber received a message from the jail that Appellant was requesting to talk to detectives. (R 119) Detectives Deborah Hamilton and John Harkins went to talk with Appellant. (R 119) Appellant said that he understood that he had a lawyer, but he did not want his lawyer there, he just wanted to **talk** to the detectives. (R 119-120) Appellant told them that

² Lieutenant Rebecca Schreiber estimated the length of the conversation at 20-30 minutes. (R 107) At the suppression hearing, Detective McWaters testified that she thought it lasted 15 to 20 minutes (R 41), but at Appellant's trial she said it **was** "quite lengthy...probably an hour and a half. (T 1862) Detective Craig Smith estimated its length as 30 to 40 minutes. (R 59)

Beverly Schultz was not involved in the offenses in any way. (R 120)

Suppression Hearing of April 21, 1995

Three witnesses testified for the State at the suppression hearing held before Judge Andrews on April 21, 1995. (R 418-470)

Jimmy Ellis Smith was a sergeant with the Department of Detentions, Polk County Sheriff's Office. (R 422-423) In May, 1994, he was second in charge at the old jail. (R 423) Smith received an inmate interview request form dated 5-24-94, bearing the name Eddie Davis. (R 423-427) It indicated that the person who signed the document wanted an interview with Detectives Gilbert and M. McWaters of the sheriff's office, and said, "I would like to speak to them about information concerning the Waters case." (R 427, 440)³ On May 24, Smith called the west region division headquarters to notify them that the inmate desired an interview. (R 428, 431) Lieutenant Rebecca Schreiber of the sheriff's office received the phone message on May 25 or May 26. (R 431, 434) Detective Debbie Hamilton had taken over the case from Detective Martha McWaters, and Schreiber contacted Hamilton and had her and Detective John Harkins call Assistant State Attorney John Aguero for instructions regarding how to handle the inmate's request. (R 431, 436-437, 440, 455-456)

Detective Hamilton was aware that Appellant had an attorney, Mr. Trogolo, and that he had been indicted, and had been in jail

³ A copy of the inmate interview request form was admitted into evidence at the hearing over defense objections that the document was not sufficiently authenticated. (R 425-426, 441-442)

for a couple of months on the instant charges. (R 437, 456) She also knew that he had given a confession at the west region substation on March 18 after initially requesting counsel. (R 454-455) When she called the state attorney's office for legal advice, Hamilton was advised to record the conversation with Appellant, and to tell him that she was aware that he had an attorney, and to ask him if he was willing to talk to them without an attorney present. (R 437-438)

After Hamilton spoke with the assistant state attorney, she and Detective Harkins proceeded to the Polk County Jail, where they made contact with Appellant in the attorney booths. (R 442-443) Appellant asked if McWaters or Gilbert were present, and Hamilton explained that McWaters no longer worked **for** the sheriff's **office**, that Gilbert had been reassigned, and that she (Hamilton) had been assigned to the case. (R 443) Appellant agreed to talk to them, and Hamilton turned on the tape recorder she had brought. (R 443-444) Hamilton said, "Eddie, we received a message that you initiated that you wanted to talk to us, to detectives from the sheriff's office; is that true?" (R 445) Appellant answered, "Yes, ma'am." (R 445, 447) Hamilton said, "We realize that you have counsel and we need to know because since you initiated this conversation if you're willing to proceed without the advice of your counsel." (R 445) Appellant responded, "Yes, ma'am, I am." (R 445, 447) After a few more questions, Appellant requested that the tape recorder be turned off, and it was. (R 447-448) These **was** some discussion between Appellant and the detectives while the

recorder was turned off. (R 449-452) When taping resumed, the following questioning took place (R 448):

MS. HAMILTON: Okay. This is Detective Debra Hamilton. And the time is approximately 10:05 a.m. And we have been talking to Mr. Eddie Wayne Davis on tape. And he has indicated that he has legal counsel that he would wish to talk to us without the advice of that legal counsel. Is that true, Eddie?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

MS. HAMILTON: Okay. And you're wanting to get things off your chest and set the record straight; is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

Appellant went on to say that Kimberly Waters' mother, Beverly Schultz, was not involved in the crimes against her daughter, and to describe what had happened in some detail. (R 448-453)

Hamilton's contact with Appellant on May 26 lasted from approximately 9:55 a.m. to approximately 10:20 a.m. (R 454) With regard to his demeanor, initially, Appellant was "fine," but as he related the events that had occurred, he started shaking, and he was crying off and on during the interview. (R 453, 459)

At no time did Hamilton read Appellant his Miranda rights. (R 452)

Trial--Guilt Phase

Appellant was a former boyfriend of Beverly Schultz. (T 1372) Their relationship lasted off and on for about six months. (T 1372) Appellant had lived with Schultz, but moved out when the relationship ended in July or August, 1993. (T 1372-1374, 1380) Appellant continued to live near Schultz, and they saw each other occasional-

ly. (T 1374-1375, 1380-1382) They had sexual intercourse three times after Appellant moved out. (T 1383) It seemed to Schultz that their sex was rougher toward the end; there was no gentleness left. (T 1375-1376, 1385-1387)

Schultz had two daughters. (T 1348) Crystal was 13 at the time of the offenses in question, and Kimberly was 11. (T 1348, 1359, 1391) Appellant never did anything to abuse the children, nor did he show any sexual interest in either girl. (T 1383-1384)

Appellant knew that Schultz kept money in her living room under a clock. (T 1385) One time before they broke **up**, Appellant took a five dollar bill from there. (T 1385)

Schultz worked as a licensed practical nurse at a nursing rehabilitation center, the Arbors of Lakeland, which was about a 10-20 minute drive from her residence, depending on the traffic. (T 1346-1348) On Thursday, March 3, 1994, she was working the 3:00 to 11:00 shift. (T 1347, 1406, 1412) **Because** the Arbors was short two certified nursing assistants for the overnight shift, Jackie **Conrad**, the charge nurse, asked Schultz if she would stay and work the 11:00 to 7:00 shift as well. (T 1348-1350, 1405-1407) Although reluctant at first, Schultz agreed to work until 6:00 a.m., if she could first go home to check on her girls. (T 1349-1350, 1366-1367, 1407-1408, 1412) She did **so** at a little after 11:00. (T 1361) Crystal, who was a very heavy sleeper, was in her bed, asleep. (T 1361-1362, 1366) Kimberly was in Schultz's waterbed, which was not unusual. (T 1363-1365) **The** front door was not locked when Schultz arrived home, but she locked it before she returned to work. (T

1365) The door could easily be opened from the outside without a key. (T 1354, 1365-1366, 1402-1403) She also turned on some lights, including the porch light. (T 1365) Schultz was only at home for a few minutes, then returned to work. (T 1365, 1408)

Crystal got up once during the night. (T 1393) She turned on the heater, checked on Kimberly, who was still in their mother's bed, and turned off some lights inside the house. (T 1393, 1395) She also checked the front door, and found it to be locked. (T 1402)

When Schultz arrived home the next morning at **6:04**, she could hear the alarm on the electric clock going off. (T 1367-1368) The porch light was off; it had been unscrewed. (T 1368, 1371)⁴ **Kimberly** was not in Schultz's bedroom, or anywhere else in the house. (T 1368-1369) Schultz woke Crystal up and asked her where her sister was, but she did not know. (T 1369) Schultz went to a neighbor's house, but they had not see Kimberly. (T 1369) Eventually, Schultz called **911** from a neighbor's telephone. (T 1370)⁵ She also called Jackie Conrad and told her that Kimberly was missing. (T 1409) Schultz was "overexcited and very hard to understand." (T 1409) **The** whole nursing staff went to Schultz's residence that morning. (T 1410) The police were already there. (T

⁴ Schultz testified that she had a friend named Charlie Smith who used to unscrew the light bulbs when they would sit on the porch and talk and that Appellant had never unscrewed the light bulb on the front porch. (T 1379-1380)

⁵ A tape recording of the **911** call was admitted into evidence near the end of the State's case over Appellant's objections. (T 1830-1833, 1927-1948) See Issue II.

1410) Schultz was "just flitting from one room to another, extremely nervous, unable to talk." (T 1410)

On March 4, 1994, Deputy Terry Storie of the Polk County Sheriff's Office was dispatched to a missing persons call at Schultz's residence, arriving there at about 6:37 a.m. (T 1428-1430) Schultz was "extremely upset, she was crying and so forth." (T 1431) Storie checked the residence for signs of forced entry, but found none. (T 1431, 1450-1451) Thereafter, a massive search for Kimberly Waters was conducted that included mounted police officers, bicycle officers, canine officers, and a helicopter. (T 1432-1433, 1446) By the end of the day, virtually everybody in the west region of the Polk County Sheriff's Office who was on duty was involved in the effort. (T 1552-1553) That afternoon, two girls who knew Kimberly, 15-year-old Leigh Ann Snell and 14-year-old Rhanda Stevens, were looking for her in the vicinity of the Moose Lodge on Lake Parker Drive in Lakeland when they noticed blood on a sidewalk that went over a canal. (T 1414-1419, 1422-1427) They flagged down a policeman who was driving by. (T 1419-1420, 1425-1426)⁶ Deputy Storie was dispatched to the area and made contact with the girls, who showed him the blood spots. (T 1434-1436) At about 4:35 p.m. Storie and another deputy, Lallu, looked into a dumpster at the Moose Lodge and found Kimberly Waters' body inside. (T 1441, 1446, 1458)

⁶ The testimony of Snell and Stevens was the subject of a motion in limine filed by defense counsel. (R 527-528)

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