IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 16 1996

CLERK, SUPRIME COURT B≽_ Chief Deputy Cherk

EDDIE WAYNE DAVIS,

Appellant,

vs .

.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

CASE NO. 86,135

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0445071 Westwood center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

> > Id. at 1201.

The holding in <u>Ware</u> was followed by the Second District in A<u>llison v. State</u>, 661 So.2d 889, a94 (Fla. App. 2 Dist. 1995), wherein the court held:

а

The trial court allowed the state to play an audiotape of a 911 call wherein the ten-year-old son frantically called authorities when he discovered that his mother was dead in her bed on the morning following The defense objected, and the her death. court ruled that it was admissible under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. An out-of-court statement is admissible if it is made in response to a startling event during the trauma or stress of the event. Sec. 90.803(2), Fla.Stat. (1991). The state laid the predicate that the child was under stress and crying at the time he made the In Ware v. State, 596 **So.2d** 1200 (Fla. call. 3d DCA 1992), the Third District held that a 911 recording was admissible under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. Thus, the trial court did not err in admitting the **911** tape into evidence.

> <u>Allison v. Stat</u>; 661 So.2d 889,a94 (Fla. 2 DCA 1995)

In <u>Power v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1992), -this Honorable Court upheld the trial court's ruling allowing a deputy to testify concerning hearsay statements made to him by the victim's father. See also <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986) (surviving victims' statements made while still at the scene of the crime which were consistent with her later testimony, admissible as excited utterance).

A review of the **911** call shows the circumstances under which Schultz made the **call** were spontaneous and that the statements sprang from the stress and excitement of discovering her child missing. Davis' assertion that the tape was not admissible as an excited utterance because Schultz had already searched the neighborhood for her child is preposterous. A fruitless search of the neighborhood for a missing child could hardly result in time for 'reflection." To the contrary, the search would more likely increase rather than decrease the sense of panic and fear. As such, it was admissible under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. <u>Ware v. State.</u> 596 **So.2d** 1200 (3d DCA 1992).

The evidence was also relevant to establish circumstances of the crime, including when Kimberly was discovered missing. In this sense the admission of the 911 call is analogous to those cases where this Court has upheld the admission of allegedly gruesome photographs which were relevant to establish the circumstances and the manner of the crime.

> "Persons accused of crimes can generally expect that any relevant evidence against them will be presented in court. The test of admissibility is relevancy. Those whose work products are murder of human beings should expect to be confronted by photographs of their accomplishments. The photographs are relevant to show the location of the victims' bodies, the amount of time that had passed

from when the victims were murdered to when the bodies were found, and the manner in which they were clothed, bound and gagged." <u>Henderson v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 196, 200 (Fla. 1985)

Additionally, even if this trial court had erred in admitting the **911** call, the error was harmless in that Beverly Schultz testified consistent with the 911 call and the Court gave a limiting instruction to the jury. See, <u>Power v. State</u>, at 862.

Appellant also contends that the admission of the tape was error because the state failed to establish an adequate foundation for it to be admitted. This claim is procedurally barred. As appellant concedes the state presented additional evidence to establish a foundation for admitting the tape **after** the only challenge made by the defense on the basis of insufficient predicate. (T 1830-33) The next day when the state offered the tape into evidence, defense counsel did not renew his previous objection to the foundation. As such the claim has been waived.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY ADMISSION OF IRRELEVANT MATTERS, IMPROPER ARGUMENTS AND EMOTIONAL DISPLAYS.

A determination as to whether substantial justice warrants the granting of a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court. <u>Sireciv. State</u>, 587 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1991). A mistrial is appropriate only when the error committed is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. <u>King v. State</u>, 623 So.2d 486 (Fla. 1993). A review of the alleged improper arguments and testimony reveals that the trial court properly denied the motions for mistrial.

In general, 'wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury." Thomas v. State, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1975); Spencer v. State, 133 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1961), cert. denied, 369 U.S. 880, 82 S.Ct. 1155, 8 L.Ed.2d 283 (1962), cert. denied, 372 U.S. 904, 83 S.Ct. 742, 9 L.Ed.2d 730 (1963). Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments. Spencer. The control of comments is within the trial court's discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of such discretion is shown. Thomas; Paramore v. State, 229 So.2d 855 (Fla.1969), modified, 408 U.S. 935, 92 S.Ct. 2857, 33 L.Ed.2d 751

(1972). A new trial should be granted when it is 'reasonably evident that the remarks might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt than it would have otherwise done.' <u>Darden v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 287, 289 (Fla.1976), <u>cert. denied</u>, 430 U.S. 704, 97 S.Ct. 308, 50 L.Ed.2d 282 (1977). Each case must be considered on its own merits, however, and within the circumstances surrounding the complained of remarks. <u>Id</u>. Compare, <u>Paramore</u> with <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 294 So.2d 327 (Fla. 1974). <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla.), cert_denied, 459 U.S. 882, 103 S.Ct. 184, 74 L.Ed.2d 149 (1982)." <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 1996 WL 385504 (Fla. 1996).

First, Davis challenges two references made by the prosecutor, once during voir dire and once during closing arguments, to the fact that Kimberly Waters had a learning disability. A review of v these minor references in context establishes that no harmful error was created. With regard to the juror question the record shows that prospective juror Skinner stated that she worked with children with learning disabilities. As Aguero anticipated establishing knowledge of Kimberly's learning disability as part of his motive in selecting her as his victim, he asked if it would cause her more concern if he told her the case involved a child with learning disabilities. He did not say that the child was the victim or if it was some other child that was involved, for example Kimberly's sister Crystal. (T 614-616) Upon objection of defense counsel, Aguero explained his intent to establish the motive and the court allowed inquiry. Nevertheless, Aguero told the court he would just stay away from it for the time being.³ (T 617) Shortly thereafter defense counsel moved for a mistrial or, in the alternative, individual voir dire.⁴ The request was denied and the court agreed that general inquiry could be made into any feelings prospective jurors may have on the issue. (T 616) This broad statement made to a juror that was excused for cause was not error and, even if it was, was not harmful.

As to the comment made during closing argument that Davis was taking an eleven-year-old emotionally handicapped child out for a midnight stroll, this claim is waived as there was no objection to the prosecutor's comment. (T 2098)

Even if this claim was not barred, it is without merit. In <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 645 So.2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994), this Court held that 'although comments on matters outside the evidence are clearly

³Prospective juror Skinner was excused for cause. (T 844-45)

⁴In the Initial Brief of Appellant page 75, Davis claims defense counsel asked to have the panel struck. Undersigned counsel can find no such request beyond the general request for a mistrial. (T 621-22)

improper," such comments do not warrant a mistrial. 'In order for the prosecutor's comments to merit **a** new trial, the comments must either deprive the defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially contribute to the conviction, be so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or be so inflammatory that they might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise." <u>Id</u>. at 383.

Similarly, in <u>Esty v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 1074, (Fla. 1994) this Court found no merit to Esty's claim that was entitled to a new trial because the trial court failed to grant a mistrial after the closing improper comments during argument prosecutor made describing **Esty** as a "dangerous, vicious, cold-blooded **murderer**" and warning the jury that neither the police nor the judicial system can "protect us from people like that" as the challenged comments were not so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Esty v. State, citing, Duest v. State, 462 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. This Court further noted that the control of the 1985). prosecutor's comments is within a trial court's discretion, and a court's ruling will not be overturned unless an abuse of discretion is shown. Esty v. State, citing, Durocher v. State, 596 So.2d 997, 1000 (Fla. 1992).

In light of the fact that Davis' victim was an eleven-year-old girl who was sleeping in her own home when she was abducted and savagely destroyed by Davis, the prosecutor's unchallenged and unrefuted comment that she was emotionally handicapped did not 'either deprive the defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially contribute to the conviction, be so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or be so inflammatory that they might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise." <u>Esty v.</u> <u>State, 642</u> So.2d 1074, (Fla. 1994).

Davis also claims reversible error based on an allegation that two emotional displays occurred during the trial and that the prosecutor improperly commented on one of them. The record shows that during closing argument prosecutor **Aguero** made the following statement:

> "Why did Mr. Davis throw this girl's body in a garbage dumpster right after he committed the crime? If his mind was so befuddled, why didn't he leave her there? He threw her in a garbage dumpster so that he hopefully would never get caught. Had Terry Storie -- Terry Storie, the guy that got upset thinking about this little girl -- not seen this tiny little hand ---" (T 2093)

Defense counsel objected and argued to the court as follows:

"Your Honor, we have been very patient as far as dealing with issues designed to inflame the jurors' passions. That's something we've been very sensitive to, we've tried to avoid. There have been and that there have been things that happened that I don't think in an isolated incident an appellate court would say that rises to the level of requiring a mistrial, but at this point, given the chain of events that have occurred, I'm going to move for a mistrial." (T 2094)

Counsel claimed that the victim's mother became somewhat upset during her testimony and that a deputy became upset during his testimony. He contended that the prosecutor's argument was essentially a golden rule argument. The trial court overruled the objection and denied the motion for mistrial. (T 2094-96)

First, any challenge as to the emotional impact of Detective Storie and/or Beverly Schultz was waived as there was no contemporaneous objection. Allen v. State, 662 So.2d 323, (Fla. 1995). Significantly, the trial court noted at the close of the penalty phase that Mrs. Schultz had behaved rather well throughout the whole trial, guilt and penalty phase, he had not noticed any problems. Defense counsel agreed. (T 2960-61) Further, the mere fact that a witness became upset during the trial does not mandate reversal of a conviction. <u>Burns v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 600, 604-05, (Fla. 1992) (victim's wife crying during trial did not require new trial).

As for the prosecutor's reference to Detective Storie, it is not improper to comment on a witness's demeanor. Contrary to appellant's contention, the prosecutor's argument was relevant to the issue before the jury. The defense claimed that Davis had not known anyone would be home and that he had killed Kimberly out of fright and panic and, therefore, he was only guilty of second degree murder. (T 2069-70) The prosecutor's closing argument focused on the level of intent and planning shown by Davis' confession and the evidence produced at trial. The reference to Detective Storie was to illustrate that Davis had the presence of mind to cover up the evidence of his crime. While the very nature of Davis' crime against Kimberly is an atrocity, the prosecutors argument was not improper and did not result in the jury returning a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise. Esty v. State, 642 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 1994).

Similarly, Aguero's argument that Davis' claim that he only put his fingers in Kimberly's vagina was a "bald-faced lie" is also a proper comment on the evidence. Craig v. State, 510 So.2d 857, 865 (Fla. 1987). Medical examiner Dr. Alexander Melamud's testimony that Kimberly's bikini was soaked with blood and that her vagina and perineum were lacerated or torn up to the anus was clearly irreconcilable with Davis' version of events. (T 1733-34) Unlike those cases relied on by appellant the prosecutor was not asking the jury to choose between the defendant and another witness as to who is the more credible. Rather, the argument focused on the level of intent involved in the crime.

Finally, Aguero's reference to Davis as a vicious brutal person is a proper comment on the evidence, as it went to Davis' claim that the murder was not premeditated. Burr, 466 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Fla.) (prosecutor's statements that people were afraid and that defendant "executes" people were fair comment on evidence and were not so inflammatory or prejudicial as to warrant a mistrial), <u>cert. denied</u>, 474 U.S. 879, 106 S.Ct. 201, 88 L.Ed.2d 170 (1985). Even if it were not, use of the term was not so prejudicial as to warrant a mistrial. Jones v. State, 652 So.2d 346, 352 (Fla. 1995) (prosecutor's reference to the collateral crime as "disgusting" not so egregious as to warrant reversal).

Furthermore, error if any was harmless. In <u>Esty v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 1074, (Fla. 1994), this Court considered a similar statement and found it harmless:

> We also find no merit to **Esty's** claim that he is entitled to a new trial because the trial court failed to grant a mistrial after the prosecutor made improper comments during closing argument in the guilt phase. The control of the **prosecutor's** comments is within a trial court's discretion, and that court's

ruling will not be overturned unless an abuse of discretion is shown. Durocher v. State, 596 **So.2d** 997, 1000 (Fla.1992). In the instant case, the prosecutor described Esty as a "dangerous, vicious, cold-blooded murderer" and warned the jury that neither the police nor the judicial system can "protect us from counsel that." Defense people like immediately objected to these comments, requested a curative instruction, and moved for a mistrial. Although the trial court sustained the objection, it refused to grant a mistrial and instead instructed the jury to "disregard the last comments of the State attorney. You shall not consider that in any way whatsoever in your deliberations." We find no abuse of discretion by the trial court in denying Esty's motion for a mistrial as these comments were not so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. See Duest v. State, 462 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla.1985). <u>Esty v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 1074,(Fla. 1994)

Appellant recognizes that this Court found the comments in Esty harmless but contends that they can not be harmless in the instant case because there was no curative instruction and because of the cumulative effect of the previously challenged comments. First, the statement in the instant case was simply a comment on the evidence, it did not include as the statement in Esty did a warning that the police could not protect us from people like the defendant. Further, although the defendant's request for a curative instruction at that time was denied, the court did agree to give the instruction after closing. (T 2114) The jury was instructed that the case must not be decided for or against anyone because you feel sorry for anyone, or you are angry at anyone. The jury was also instructed that feelings of prejudice, bias or sympathy should not be discussed or play any role in the verdict. (T 2144)

In conclusion, assuming, **arguendo**, that any of the foregoing does constitute error, in light of the overwhelming evidence against Davis including his own confessions as to this heinous crime, error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTIONS TO FLORIDA'S STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION ON REASONABLE DOUBT.

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